**S222996**

NO. \_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate No. B249253

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

MARK LAFFITTE, *et al.*,

*Plaintiffs and Respondents,*

vs.

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL, INC., *et al.*,

*Defendants and Respondents,*

DAVID BRENNAN,

*Plaintiff and Appellant.*

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

DEC 23 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

---

---

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Div. Seven, No. B249253;  
Los Angeles Superior Court, Stanley Mosk Courthouse, Case No. BC 321317  
[related to BC 455499 and BC 377930], Hon. Mary H. Strobel, Judge

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

LAWRENCE W. SCHONBRUN (CSB No. 054519)

## INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Class Member/Objector and Appellant David Brennan respectfully petitions this Court for review of the October 29, 2014, opinion (initially unpublished) of the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, *Laffitte v. Robert Half Int'l, Inc., et al.; David Brennan, Plaintiff and Appellant*, No. B249253, 2014 Cal.App. LEXIS 1059 (2d App. Dist., Div. 7, Oct. 29, 2014) (hereinafter "*Half decision*").

On November 21, 2014, the Second District issued an "Order Modifying Opinion and Certifying for Publication; No Change in Judgment" under California Rules of Court (hereinafter CRC), Rules 8.1120(a) and 8.1105(c), as a result of two letters submitted to the Second District that sought publication. One of those letters was from Consumer Attorneys of California.<sup>1</sup>

A copy of the published opinion is attached as Exhibit 1.

A copy of the "Order Modifying Opinion and Certifying for Publication; No Change in Judgment" is attached as Exhibit 2.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> A professional association of attorneys (formerly California Trial Lawyers Association), [www.caoc.org](http://www.caoc.org).

<sup>2</sup> The Second Appellate District's modifications to the text of the initially unpublished opinion have not yet been included in the published version.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Does this Court's seminal decision in *Serrano v. Priest*, 20 Cal.3d 25 [141 Cal.Rptr. 315] (Oct. 4, 1977) (hereinafter *Serrano III*), establishing the rules for judicial calculations of reasonable attorneys' fees:

"The starting point of every fee award, once it is recognized that the court's role in equity is to provide just compensation for the attorney, must be a calculation of the attorney's services in terms of the time he has expended on the case."

*Serrano III*, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23 (emphasis added), citing *City of Detroit v. Grinnell Corp.* 495 F.2d 448, 470 (2d Cir. Mar. 13, 1974),

permit a California trial court to anchor its calculation of a reasonable attorneys' fee award from a class action common fund on the percentage-of-the-fund approach,<sup>3</sup> using a lodestar calculation merely as a cross-check of the selected percentage?

The *Half* decision, citing published California appellate authorities, holds that a California trial court has discretion to anchor its calculation of a reasonable attorneys' fee by employing either the percentage-of-the-fund approach or the lodestar/multiplier approach. When using the percentage-of-the-fund approach as the starting point, the *Half* court holds that a trial court may employ a lodestar calculation to merely cross-check the selected percentage.

---

<sup>3</sup> Also referred to as the percentage-of-the-benefit approach or the percentage-of-the-recovery approach.

The percentage-of-the-fund approach involves selecting a percentage of the amount of money in the settlement fund as a reasonable attorneys' fee. In the lodestar/multiplier approach, the court determines the reasonable amount of time spent on the legal services provided, which is multiplied by the prevailing market rates for the services rendered, and then possibly enhancing the award for enumerated special factors.

### **REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

1. This Court should grant review of the *Half* decision "to secure uniformity" (CRC 8.500)(b)(1)) because there is a split of authority among courts of appeal in California about how trial court judges may calculate reasonable attorneys' fees awarded from class action common fund settlements.

A. There are presently at least three different and contradictory published appellate decisions interpreting *Serrano III*, *supra*.

(1) The most extreme interpretation of *Serrano III* is this *Half* decision. According to *Half*, the starting point for the calculation of a reasonable attorneys' fee from a class action common fund may be either the percentage-of-the-recovery approach or the lodestar/multiplier approach. Where the trial court chooses to anchor the fee award to the percentage-of-the-recovery approach, it may use a lodestar calculation as a mere cross-check:

The trial court also performed a lodestar calculation to cross-check the reasonableness of

the percentage of fund award. This was entirely proper.

(*Half*, Exhibit 1-11 at \*33.)

The *Half* decision amounts to a repudiation of this Court's *Serrano III*'s decision:

"The starting point of every fee award ... must be a calculation of the attorney's services in terms of the time he has expended on the case.

Anchoring the analysis to this concept is the only way of approaching the problem that can claim objectivity, a claim which is obviously vital to the prestige of the bar and the courts."

*Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23, citing *City of Detroit v. Grinnell*, 495 F.2d at 470, *supra* (emphasis added).

Fundamental to its [the trial court's] determination – and properly so – was a careful compilation of the time spent and reasonable hourly compensation of each attorney ... involved in the presentation of the case.

*Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 48 (emphasis added; footnote omitted).

(2) A different interpretation of *Serrano III* was issued by the First Appellate District's decision in *Lealao v. Beneficial California, Inc.*, 82 Cal.App.4th 19 [97 Cal. Rptr. 2d 797] (1st App. Dist. July 10, 2000). *Lealao* follows *Serrano III*'s direction to anchor the award of reasonable attorneys' fees to a lodestar calculation as a first step. However, the *Lealao* court goes on to say that after the initial lodestar calculation is made, a trial court may consider a percentage-of-the-fund analysis in determining an appropriate lodestar

enhancement.<sup>4</sup> In so holding, the *Lealao* court nonetheless conceded the uncertainty of its modification of *Serrano III*:

Prior to 1977, when the California Supreme Court decided *Serrano III*, *supra*, 20 Cal.3d 25, California courts could award a percentage fee in a common fund case.... After *Serrano III*, it is not clear whether this may still be done.

....

As we have said, the California Supreme Court has never prohibited<sup>5</sup> adjustment of the lodestar [based on a percentage-of-the-benefit analysis].

*Lealao*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at 27 (emphasis added) and at 49, respectively.

(3) The third interpretation of *Serrano III* is diametrically opposed to *Half* and *Lealao*. The Second Appellate District's decision in *Jutkowitz v. Bourns, Inc., et al.*, 118 Cal.App.3d 102 [173 Cal.Rptr. 248] (2d App. Dist. Apr. 16, 1981) (and the cases adopting its reasoning<sup>6</sup>) holds that under *Serrano III*, not only must

---

<sup>4</sup> The terms "lodestar multiplier" and "lodestar enhancement" can be used interchangeably.

<sup>5</sup> Petitioner notes that, on the other hand, the Supreme Court has never approved such an adjustment either.

<sup>6</sup> *Accord*, *The People ex rel. Dep't of Transp. v. Yuki, et al.*, 31 Cal.App.4th 1754, 1769, 1770 [37 Cal.Rptr.2d 616] (6th App. Dist. Jan. 6, 1995), *citing Salton Bay Marina, Inc. v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.*, 172 Cal.App.3d at 914, 954 [218 Cal.Rptr. 839] (4th App. Dist. Sept. 30, 1985) (citation omitted):

"[T]he correct amount of compensation cannot be arrived at objectively by simply taking a percentage [of the recovery]."

....

[It is improper to calculate] "fee awards that bear no relationship to the amount of attorney time actually incurred

the lodestar approach be the first step in the calculation, but that percentage-based contingent fee litigation cannot be part of a judicial determination of a reasonable attorneys' fee.

In our opinion, the clear thrust of the holding in *Serrano, supra*, and the cases upon which that holding relied, is a rejection of any "contingent fee" principle in cases involving equitable compensation for lawyers in class actions or other types of representative suits.

*Jutkowitz, supra*, 118 Cal.App.3d at 110 (emphasis added).

B. These conflicts are confirmed by the Fourth Appellate District decision in *Dunk v. Ford Motor Co.*:

Later cases have cast doubt on the use of the percentage method to determine attorney fees in California class actions.

....

The award of attorney fees based on a percentage of a "common fund" recovery is of questionable validity in California....

*Dunk v. Ford Motor Co., et al.*, 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1809 [56 Cal. Rptr.2d 483] (4th App. Dist. Aug. 30, 1996) (emphasis added).

---

in the preparation and trial of the case."

and *Salton Bay Marina, supra*, 172 Cal.App.3d at 954, *citing Jutkowitz, supra*, 118 Cal.App.3d at 111 (emphasis added):

"While the size of the class may affect the complexity of counsel's task and the size of the fund created may reflect the quality of his work, the correct amount of compensation cannot be arrived at objectively by simply taking a percentage of that fund."

The Consumer Attorneys of California's letter seeking publication of the *Half* decision reinforces Petitioner's argument regarding the unsettled state of the law on judicial calculations of reasonable attorneys' fee awards from class action common funds. The letter correctly states that the *Half* decision breaks new ground in holding that in awarding a reasonable attorneys' fee from a common fund, the trial court may place primary reliance on the percentage-of-the-recovery approach, using a lodestar calculation as a mere cross-check.

The letter also identified two recent federal court decisions, *In re Apple iPhone/iPod Warranty Litig.*, No. C 10-1610 RS, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52050 (N.D. Cal., San Francisco Div., Apr. 14, 2014), and *Fraley v. Facebook, Inc.*, No. C 11-1726 RS, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124023 (N.D. Cal., San Francisco Div., Aug. 26, 2013), acknowledging the controversy surrounding the proper use of the percentage-of-the-fund method when calculating reasonable attorneys' fees under California law.

Indeed, some post-*Serrano III* appellate opinions have questioned the continued availability of the percentage of fund method. *See e.g. Dunk v. Ford Motor Co.*, 48 Cal. App. 4th 1794, 1809, 56 Cal. Rptr. 2d 483 (1996) ("The award of attorney fees based on a percentage of a 'common fund' recovery is of questionable validity in California.").

*In re Apple iPhone*, *supra*, 2014 U.S. Dist. Lexis 52050, at \*6.

In opposing the fee request, Facebook insists that applicable California law requires that the fee



award be calculated through the lodestar approach, and *not* as a percentage of the recovery.

*Fraley v. Facebook, Inc., supra*, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124023 at \*5.

Publication of the *Half* decision, as important as it is, does not resolve the conflict surrounding the meaning of *Serrano III*. It merely widens and deepens the disagreements among California's appellate courts interpreting *Serrano III*.

Our system of law is based on intermediate appellate courts and trial courts following the instructions of this Court. There is a need for uniformity in how reasonable attorneys' fees are to be calculated in California. This Court should rule on which interpretation(s) of *Serrano III* is correct:

(1) The lodestar is the starting point for the judicial calculation of a reasonable attorneys' fee awards paid from a class action common fund. *See Serrano III, supra*, and *Lealao, supra*.

(2) Either the lodestar/multiplier approach or the percentage-of-the-fund approach may be the starting points. (*Half, supra*, and *Sutter Health Uninsured Pricing Cases*, 171 Cal.App.4th 495 [89 Cal.Rptr.3d 615] (3rd App. Dist. Jan. 27, 2009).)

(3) The lodestar approach must be the starting point for judicial calculation of a reasonable attorneys' fee, and percentages based upon contingent fee litigation cannot be a part of the calculation. (*Jutkowitz, supra*; *The People ex rel. Dep't of Transp. v. Yuki, supra*; and *Salton Bay, supra*.)

(4) The lodestar approach is the starting point for the calculation of a reasonable attorneys' fee, but the percentage-

of-the-recovery approach can be considered in determining a multiplier to the lodestar. (*Lealao, supra, and Chavez v. Netflix*, 162 Cal.App.4th 43 [75 Cal.Rptr.3d 413] (1st App. Dist. Apr. 21, 2008).)<sup>7</sup>

(5) The lodestar/multiplier approach can be used as a cross-check to a fee award anchored to the percentage-of-the-fund approach. (*Half, supra, and Sutter Health, supra.*)

(6) The lodestar/multiplier approach cannot be used as a cross-check to the percentage-of-the-recovery approach.

[I]t is improper for the trial court to start with the amount of the contingency fee and then work backwards, applying the various other factors in order to justify that amount.

*Yuki, supra*, 31 Cal.App.4th at 1771 (emphasis added).

Confirming the lack of a unified interpretation of *Serrano III*, Richard Pearl, author of the CEB treatise *California Attorney Fee Awards*, can only speculate on what this Court's position would be on the issue.

[T]here seems little reason to believe that the California Supreme Court would find them<sup>8</sup> unacceptable.

---

<sup>7</sup> As will be explained in the Discussion on page 25, *infra*, the statement in *Chavez, supra*, 162 Cal.App.4th at 65-66, that "It is not an abuse of discretion to choose one method over another...." is incorrectly used as support for the assertion that either the percentage approach or the lodestar approach may be the starting point for a judicial award of reasonable attorneys' fees. *Chavez* was referring to the method for calculating a multiplier using differing percentage-of-the-fund analyses after having performed a lodestar calculation.

<sup>8</sup> Cases that have indicated that the percentage-of-fund method is a permissible starting point.

Richard M. Pearl, *California Attorney Fee Awards*, 3d ed. (CEB Mar. 2014 Update, at § 8.13(b), p. 8-13 (emphasis added).

2. This Court should grant review of the *Half* decision because it is "necessary to ... settle an important question of law...." (CRC, Rule 8.500(b)(1).)

On a regular basis, multimillion-dollar attorneys' fee awards are being taken from class members' common fund recoveries in class action settlements. Whether a percentage-of-the-fund approach will be permitted to anchor or modify such fee awards directly affects the amount of money that will be taken from class members' recoveries. The *Half* decision has cumulative ramifications in the hundreds of millions of dollars. As Richard Pearl has noted, allowing courts to base fee awards on percentages of the amount of the class's recovery increases the amount of money paid toward attorneys' fees.

Common fund fees, however, can sometimes be calculated using a percentage-of-the-fund method, which can result in fees that the courts might be reluctant to grant under the lodestar-adjustment method.

Pearl, *California Attorney Fee Awards*, *supra*, at § 5.18, p. 5-11 (emphasis added).

Anchoring the award to the percentage-of-the-recovery approach, in addition to having enormous financial consequences, is important as a matter of legal theory as well.

A. Under this Court's *Serrano III* decision, a reasonable attorneys' fee is directly linked to the legal services provided by the attorney. Under the percentage-of-the-fund method,

the determination of a reasonable fee is based on a totally different concept – the dollar amount of the fund. This conflict in methodology represents a fundamental policy difference on the concept of what is a reasonable attorneys' fee.

Severing the connection between the amount of work required to produce the recovery and the amount of the attorneys' fees undermines the concept of windfall attorneys' fees. The windfall concept is based on the disparity between the amount of money sought by the attorney and the legal services provided by that attorney.

B. The common fund doctrine is based on the concept of *quantum meruit* – the value of the services rendered.

An award of fees under the equitable common fund doctrine is "analogous to an action in quantum meruit: The individual seeking compensation has, by his actions, benefited another and seeks payment for the value of the service performed."

*Consumer Cause, Inc. v. Mrs. Gooch's Natural Food Market, Inc.*, 127 Cal.App.4th 387, 397 [25 Cal.Rptr.3d 514] (2d App. Dist. Mar. 7, 2005), *citing Serrano v. Unruh*, 32 Cal.3d 621, 628 [186 Cal.Rptr. 754] (Oct. 28, 1982) (emphasis added).

Basing an attorneys' fee award on a percentage of the dollar amount of the settlement fund violates the very principle upon which the common fund doctrine was established. Furthermore, to allow attorneys' fee awards to be based on a percentage of the class settlement fund is inconsistent with California class action attorneys' fee jurisprudence:

Nonetheless, the plaintiffs' attorneys owe an ethical and fiduciary duty to their clients ... to limit fees to an amount that represents the value of the work done.

*Robbins v. Alibrandi*, 127 Cal.App.4th 438, 444 [25 Cal.Rptr.3d 387] (1st App. Dist. Feb. 4, 2005) (emphasis added).

C. Contingent fee principles from traditional single-plaintiff models of tort litigation are incompatible with the founding principles of the common fund doctrine:

Counsel fees ... [awarded under the common fund doctrine,] if made with moderation and a jealous regard to the rights of those who are interested in the fund, are not only admissible, but agreeable to the principles of equity and justice.

*Trustees v. Greenough*, 105 U.S. 527, 536-37 (May 8, 1882) (emphasis added). *Accord, Garabedian v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co.*, 118 Cal.App.4th 123, 128 [12 Cal.Rptr.3d 737] (4th App. Dist. Apr. 29, 2004) ("[T]his Court must exercise moderation in determining the ... size [of counsel fees and expenses]...." (citations omitted).)

The *Lealao* court clearly distinguished the calculation of the percentage to be taken from a class action recovery (where there are hundreds, thousands, or even millions of clients) from traditional individual client's contingent fee arrangements from tort law.

"In a contingent fee case involving a small number of plaintiffs, a percentage of the recovery, even a fairly large percentage such as 33 1/3 percent, will frequently yield a result that is fair to both the attorney and the client in light of the value provided to the client by the attorney. But where

the size of the settlement is due to the fact that it resolves not just one claim, but large numbers of identical claims, and the services of the attorney are essentially the same as would have been required if there had been only one claim, it makes no sense to gear the fee award to the total dollar amount of the settlement..... However, treating the recovery of every class member in an identical way for fee purposes, and awarding the attorney a fee based upon a percentage of the total recovery, cannot be justified, even if the percentage is 'small,' as is frequently argued in support of percentage fees in class actions."

*Lealao, supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at 49 n.16, *citing* John F. Grady, *Reasonable Fees: A Suggested Value-Based Analysis for Judges*, 184 F.R.D. 131, 141-142 (1998) (footnote omitted).

D. The purpose of the class action mechanism is to provide access to the courts by allowing lawyers to aggregate small claims. It is the mechanism itself that makes individual small claims viable to pursue through litigation. A contingent fee is an entirely different mechanism used in personal injury accident litigation where one plaintiff pays a lawyer typically one-third (1/3) of his or her recovery to pursue one individual claim.

These two theories, while superficially similar in that they both involve contingent legal services, serve very different numbers of plaintiffs. The aggregation of large numbers of claims into a class action produces very large potential liabilities, creating a strong pressure to settle that is absent in individual tort claims. This pressure greatly reduces contingent risk, as demonstrated by the fact that almost all class actions settle. Because of that, the contingent fee methodology for individual tort claims is fundamentally incompatible

with a mechanism designed to join a large number of small claims in a court proceeding.

If *Half* is to change common fund reasonable attorneys' fee jurisprudence so radically from its historical roots, that decision should be made by this Court. It should not be left to varying contradictory appellate court decisions by lower courts or legal commentators "reading tea leaves" about what this Court would likely do.

3. This Court should grant review because, as is made clear in *Serrano III*, judicial determinations of reasonable attorneys' fees involve important issues of public policy and the public's respect for the legal profession and the judiciary.

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