No. B249253

JAN 1 2 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

David Brennan, Plaintiff Class Member/Objector and Appellant.

MARK LAFFITTE, on behalf of himself and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Class Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC., ROBERT HALF OF CALIFORNIA, INC., ROBERT HALF INCORPORATED and ROBERT HALF CORPORATION dba RHC,

Defendants and Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW (Class Plaintiffs and Respondents)

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division 7, Case No. B249253

LAW OFFICES OF KEVIN T. BARNES

Kevin T. Barnes, Esq. (SBN 138477)

Gregg Lander, Esq. (SBN 194018)

INTRODUCTION

For more than 10 years, experienced class counsel vigorously litigated this complex wage and hour class action against a formidable, experienced and well-financed adversary. Class counsel worked more than 4,000 hours (excluding appellate proceedings which have significantly increased the hours) pursuing claims on behalf of the Class Plaintiffs — with no guarantee that counsel would ever receive compensation for their efforts. Class Plaintiffs and their employer ultimately agreed to a \$19 million settlement which, by any standard of measurement, was an outstanding result for the Class Plaintiffs.

The trial court granted class counsel's request for attorneys' fees equal to 33.33% of the gross settlement amount, concluding that the fee request was fair and reasonable. In awarding fees, the trial court applied the equitable common fund theory and calculated the fees as a percentage of the recovery. The trial court also conducted a discretionary cross-check of the fee award by calculating the lodestar (the reasonable hours worked times the hourly rates charged). The cross-check confirmed that the fee award was reasonable.

After the objector appealed, the appellate court affirmed, concluding that the calculation of fees based on a percentage of the common fund — was proper and reasonable. Undeterred, the objector filed a Petition for Review, arguing that review is warranted because the appellate court's approval of a fee award pursuant to the percentage method (with a lodestar cross-check) in a common fund case contradicts the Supreme Court's decision in *Serrano v. Priest* (1977) 20 Cal.3d 25, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315, and is inconsistent with other appellate court opinions.

That interpretation of California law is simply incorrect as no California appellate court has ever held that a fee award based on a percentage of the fund is inappropriate in a true common fund case. Thus,

the appellate court's decision is wholly consistent with *Serrano* and presents no conflict with other California authorities regarding the common fund theory. For these reasons, and those set forth below, this Court should deny the Petition, finally bringing this action to an end.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Complaint

On September 10, 2004, Plaintiff Mark Laffitte filed a putative class-action Complaint asserting various wage and hour claims against Robert Half International, Inc., Robert Half of California, Inc., Robert Half Incorporated and Robert Half Corporation dba RHC (collectively "Robert Half"). *Laffitte v. Robert Half International Inc.*, 231 Cal.App.4th 860, 180 Cal.Rptr.3d 136, 138 (Cal.App. 2 Dist., Oct. 29, 2014). On September 18, 2006 the trial court granted Laffitte's motion for class certification with respect to several causes of action. *Id.* at 139.

2. The Settlement Agreement

On June 18, 2012, Laffitte and the class representatives in two other class actions against Robert Half involving similar claims and allegations reached a settlement of the three class actions. *Id.*¹

Thereafter, the trial court granted preliminary approval of the settlement. On November 13, 2012, the trial court approved an amended the settlement agreement which provided, in part, that: (1) Robert Half would pay a gross settlement amount of \$19,000,000; and (2) class counsel would apply for attorneys' fees up to \$6,333,333.33 (33.33% of the gross settlement amount) and counsel's actual litigation costs. *Id.* at 139-40. On

¹ The two other class actions were *Williamson v. Robert Half International Inc.* (Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BC377930) and *Apolinario v. Robert Half International Inc.* (Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BC455499). *See Laffitte*, 180 Cal.Rptr.3d at 139 n.1.

January 28, 2013, class member David Brennan objected arguing, in part, that the fee request was excessive. *Id.* at 140.

3. Class Counsel's Request For Attorneys' Fees

On February 28, 2013, the class representatives filed a motion requesting \$6,333,333.33 in attorneys' fees (one-third of the gross settlement) pursuant to a common fund theory. *Id.* Class counsel also submitted evidence that counsel worked 4,263.5 hours on the case (and anticipated working 200 hours on the appeal) and provided hourly rates for each attorney. Based on the hourly rate and hours worked for each attorney, class counsel calculated that the total lodestar amount as \$2,968,620 (\$3,118,620 including the appeal). Class counsel also requested a lodestar multiplier of between 2.03 to 2.13 for a total requested attorneys' fee award of \$6,333,333.33. *Id.*

4. The Trial Court's Tentative Ruling

On March 22, 2013, the trial court held a hearing and tentatively approved the settlement and fee request. The ruling stated, in part, that: (1) the percentage method of calculating attorneys' fees in a common fund case was supported by *Lealao v. Beneficial California Inc.* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 19, 27, 97 Cal.Rptr.2d 797; (2) the hours worked by class counsel were reasonable; and (3) the hourly rates for class counsel were justified. *Id.* at 140-41.

5. The Trial Court's Ruling

On April 10, 2013, the trial court held another hearing and overruled Mr. Brennan's objections. *Id.* at 142. The trial court also conducted crosscheck on the fees awarded pursuant to the percentage of the fund method and analyzed the lodestar amount. *Id.* at 143. The trial court concluded that the hours worked and hourly rates charged were within the norm. The trial court also found sufficient information to support the multiplier. The

trial court then granted final approval of class action settlement and awarded \$6,333,333.33 in attorneys' fees and \$127,304.08 in costs. *Id.*

6. The Appellate Court's Ruling

On appeal, Mr. Brennan argued, *inter alia*, that the trial court erred by awarding fees pursuant to the percentage of the fund method, rather than the lodestar method. *Id.* at 147. The appellate court rejected this argument, stating: "[T]he percentage approach may be proper where, as here, there is a common fund." *Id.*

The Laffitte Court acknowledged that the California Supreme Court established the "primacy of the lodestar method in California" in Serrano v. Priest (1977) 20 Cal.3d 25, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315. Laffitte, 180 Cal.Rptr.3d at 147 (quoting Lealao, 82 Cal.App.4th at 26). Nevertheless, the Laffitte Court held that "[s]ubsequent judicial opinions have made it clear that a percentage fee award in a common fund case 'may still be done." Id. at 148 (emphasis added) (citing cases). In reaching this conclusion, the Laffitte Court specifically relied on several California appellate decisions which recognized the propriety of awarding attorneys' fees based on a percentage of a common fund, including:

- In re Consumer Privacy Cases (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 545, 96 Cal.Rptr.3d 127, which held that the ultimate goal is the award of a reasonable fee "[r]egardless of whether attorney fees are determined using the lodestar method or awarded based on a 'percentage-of-the-benefit' analysis" and "irrespective of the method of calculation." Id. at 557-58 (quotation omitted);
- Chavez v. Netflix, Inc. (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 43, 75
 Cal.Rptr.3d 413, which held: "It is not an abuse of discretion to choose one method over another as long as the method

- chosen is applied consistently using percentage figures that accurately reflect the marketplace." *Id.* at 65-66;
- Consumer Cause, Inc. v. Mrs. Gooch's Natural Food
 Markets, Inc. (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 387, 25 Cal.Rptr.3d
 514, which recognized that the common fund doctrine is
 "frequently applied in class actions when the efforts of the attorney for the named class representatives produce monetary benefits for the entire class" Id. at 397;
- Wershba v. Apple Computer, Inc. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 224,
 110 Cal.Rptr.2d 145, which holds: "Courts recognize two methods for calculating attorney fees in civil class actions: the lodestar/multiplier method and the percentage of recovery method." Id. at 254; and
- Lealao, which held that "fees based on a percentage of the benefits are in fact appropriate in large class actions when the benefit per class member is relatively low " Lealao, 82 Cal.App.4th at 63.

See Laffitte, 180 Cal.Rptr.3d at 148-49.

Based on these authorities, the *Laffitte* Court held that in common fund cases, the "percentage of fund method survives in California class action cases, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in using it, in part, to approve the fee request in this class action." *Id.* at 149.

The *Laffitte* Court also concluded that the "trial court's use of a percentage of 33 1/3 percent of the common fund is consistent with, and in the range of, awards in other class action lawsuits." *Id.* (citing cases).

Finally, the *Laffitte* Court approved of the trial court's lodestar cross-check, stating:

The trial court did not use the percentage of fund method exclusively to determine whether the amount of attorneys' fees requested was reasonable and appropriate. The trial court also performed a lodestar calculation to cross-check the reasonableness of the percentage of fund award. This was entirely proper.

Id. at 149-50.

The Laffitte Court also held that the trial court "did not abuse its discretion in performing a lodestar calculation based on the declarations of class counsel to cross-check the percentage of fund award." *Id.* at 151. In addition, the Laffitte Court held that the trial court's "use of a multiplier of 2.13 was not an abuse of discretion" as the trial court properly considered "the proper lodestar multiplier factors in determining whether to apply a multiplier, including the difficulty of the issues in this case, the skill of class counsel, the contingent nature of the case, and the preclusion of other employment." *Id.*

LEGAL DISCUSSION

1. No California Appellate Court Has Ever Directly Held That Awarding Attorneys' Fees Based On The Percentage Method Is Inappropriate In A Common Fund Case.

As is relevant here, *Laffitte* held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding fees pursuant to the percentage method in this common fund case. Mr. Brennan essentially argues that this holding contradicts Supreme Court precedent and conflicts with other California appellate court decisions. A review of the relevant authorities, however, reveals that *no actual conflict exists*. Thus, review is not warranted.

A. Serrano III And The Common Fund Doctrine.

In Serrano v. Priest (1977) 20 Cal.3d 25, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315 ("Serrano III"), the plaintiffs obtained a judgment holding that: (1) California's public school financing system violated state equal protection laws; and (2) the system must be brought into constitutional compliance within six years. Id. at 31. Plaintiffs' counsel then sought attorneys' fees

from various state officials (in their official capacity) based on three equitable theories: (1) the common fund theory; (2) the substantial benefit theory; and (3) the private attorney general theory. *Id.* at 31-32. The trial court awarded fees pursuant to the private attorney general theory. *Id.* at 32. On appeal, Defendants argued, *inter alia*, that the award of attorneys fees was improper under any of these three theories. *Id.* at 33. Plaintiffs argued, in turn, that the trial court erred in refusing to also base its award on the common fund and substantial benefit theories. *Id.*

In Section II(a) of the opinion, this Court extensively discussed the common fund theory. *Id.* at 34-38. This Court first noted the general rule that each party pays its own attorneys' fees, absent a specific statute or agreement by the parties. *Id.* at 34 (*citing Cal. Civ. Proc. Code* § 1021). Despite this rule, the Serrano III Court acknowledged the well-recognized, equitable exception to the general rule whereby courts may award attorneys' fees when the litigation creates a common fund: "[T]he well-established 'common fund' principle [applies] when a number of persons are entitled in common to a specific fund, and an action brought by a plaintiff or plaintiffs for the benefit of all results in the creation or preservation of that fund, such plaintiff or plaintiffs may be awarded attorneys fees out of the fund." *Id.* Pursuant to the common fund theory, "one who expends attorneys' fees in winning a suit which creates a fund from which others derive benefits, may require those passive beneficiaries to bear a fair share of the litigation costs." Id. at 35 (quotation omitted). This Court also noted that courts have the "the historic power of equity to permit the trustee of a fund or property, or a party preserving or recovering a fund for the benefit of others in addition to himself, to recover his costs, including his attorneys' fees, from the fund or property itself or directly from the other parties enjoying the benefit." *Id.* (quotation omitted).

The Serrano III Court further noted that the California Supreme Court first approved of the common fund theory in 1895 and that the common fund theory "has since been applied by the courts of this state in numerous cases." Id. The Court specifically noted that the common fund theory applies when "the activities of the party awarded fees have resulted in the preservation or recovery of a certain or easily calculable sum of money out of which sum or 'fund' the fees are to be paid." Id. (emphasis added). In sum, the Serrano III Court acknowledged the well-settled principle of awarding fees out of a common fund but merely concluded that the common fund approach was inappropriate in that case because the litigation did not create a common fund. Serrano III, 20 Cal.3d at 35-38.

Here, the class representatives' efforts created an easily calculable sum of money – a \$19 million settlement – which benefits all class members. Thus, the *Laffitte* Court's approval of the percentage method to award attorneys' fees in this common fund cases is fully consistent with *Serrano III*.

B. The California Supreme Court Continues To Acknowledge The Common Fund Theory.

Since Serrano III, the California Supreme Court has repeatedly acknowledged that viability of the common fund theory as a basis for awarding attorneys' fees. See, e.g., Trope v. Katz (1995) 11 Cal.4th 274, 279, 45 Cal.Rptr.2d 241 (noting that the California Supreme Court has relied on its "inherent equitable authority" to develop the common fund theory of recovery); Sam Andrews' Sons v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 157, 172 n.10, 253 Cal.Rptr. 30 ("This court has generally recognized only three exceptions to the application of [Code of Civil Procedure] section 1021: the common fund, substantial benefit, and private attorney general theories.") (emphasis added); Gray v. Don Miller & Associates, Inc. (1984) 35 Cal.3d 498, 505, 198 Cal.Rptr. 551 ("[I]f the

litigation has succeeded in creating or preserving a common fund for the benefit of a number of persons, the plaintiff may be awarded attorney fees out of that fund."); Serrano v. Unruh ("Serrano IV") (1982) 32 Cal.3d 621, 627, 186 Cal.Rptr. 754 (recognizing that the common fund theory was a well-established exception to the general rule that counsel fees are not recoverable absent statute or enforceable agreement); Consumers Lobby Against Monopolies v. Public Utilities Com. (1979) 25 Cal.3d 891, 908, 160 Cal.Rptr. 124 (recognizing the common fund theory as a basis for awarding attorneys' fees and holding that the California Public Utilities Commission "possesses equitable power to award attorney fees under the common fund doctrine in quasi-judicial reparation actions."), disapproved on another point in Kowis v. Howard (1992) 3 Cal.4th 888, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d 728.

C. Numerous Post-Serrano III Appellate Court Decisions Acknowledge The Common Fund Theory.

Numerous California appellate courts have followed *Serrano III* and acknowledged the common fund theory as proper means for awarding attorneys' fees in a common fund case. Indeed, the "cases are legion which recognize and apply the 'common fund' principle in this state." *Long Beach City Employees Assn., Inc. v. City of Long Beach* (1981) 120 Cal.App.3d 950, 959, 172 Cal.Rptr. 277 (citation omitted). Consider, for example:

- Harper v. 24 Hour Fitness, Inc. (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 966,
 976, 84 Cal.Rptr.3d 532 (acknowledging the applicability of the common fund theory as a basis for an award of attorneys' fees);
- Northwest Energetic Services, LLC v. California Franchise
 Tax Bd. (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 841, 878, 71 Cal.Rptr.3d 642
 ("Under the common fund doctrine, reasonable attorney fees
 may be awarded where the litigation created a fund from

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